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Foreword

Charities play a rich and varied role in
modern society but their continued success
is dependent upon the public's trust and
confidence in their work. The Strategy Unit
(SU) report Private Action, Public Benefit
recognised this link, with the government's
response to the report commenting that
"... easy access to accurate and relevant
information about charities is essential for
real accountability, and for trust and
confidence in charities."1 A number of the
SU's recommendations have a direct
impact on charities' transparency and
accountability. One of these
recommendations, that larger charities
complete an annual Standard Information
Return (SIR) about their work,
achievements and impact, is currently
being piloted in consultation with the
sector. Another recommendation, included
within the draft charities Bill, gives the
Charity Commission a specific statutory
objective to enhance the accountability of
charities to donors, beneficiaries and to the
public. These changes, together with the
development of Guidestar-UK (a new
information portal displaying information
from charities’ Annual Reports and
Accounts plus supplementary material)
will help to increase the amount of
information available to stakeholders and
so increase charities’ accountability.

The Charity Commission interprets
transparency and accountability as
providing relevant and reliable information
to stakeholders in a way that is free from
bias, comparable, understandable and
focused on stakeholders' legitimate needs.
This report looks at what people think is
important in this area and examines the

1 Strategy Unit, Private Action, Public Benefit - a review of Charities and the wider not-for-profit sector, Cabinet Office,
2002.

level of transparency and accountability a
charity demonstrates in its reporting. We
consider compliance with the Statement of
Recommended Practice (the Charities
SORP) to be the minimum standard of
accountability, particularly for the largest
charities. The forthcoming SORP review
consultation will create a focus for better
reporting of charities’ objects, achievements,
results, and impact.

This report presents the findings of an
analysis of the information provided in the
Annual Report and Accounts and the
Annual Review of a sample of 200 of the
largest charities. The analysis was not
designed to assess of the extent of SORP
compliance in the sector. Instead it assessed
the extent to which the charities in the
sample had gone beyond minimum
requirements to provide information that
accounted fully and transparently for their
performance during the year.

Our evidence is that the general standard of
performance against the transparency and
accountability framework is not
satisfactory. Whilst there are some very
good examples, too many charities in our
study did not meet basic requirements. We
hope that charities will take both this
message and what the report shows about
good practice to heart and respond
constructively.

JJoohhnn  SSttookkeerr
CChhiieeff  CChhaarriittyy  CCoommmmiissssiioonneerr
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2 A series of key financial ratios were also examined and these will provide the focus of a second report to be published
later this year.

Executive  summary

The Charity Commission takes the view
that accountability is a charity's response to
the legitimate information needs of its
stakeholders. It is important that interested
parties can easily obtain relevant and
reliable information on a charity's financial
position and performance, deployment of
resources, organisational structure, policies,
priorities, activities and achievements.

A high level of transparency when
accounting for performance allows trustees
to:

• demonstrate that resources are being
used wisely and for the stated purpose;

• show that the charity is being
organised and managed properly;

• demonstrate that the charity is carrying
out its activities efficiently and
effectively; and

• attract new resources to enable the
charity to continue its activities.

The Charity Commission is one of many
stakeholders that has a legitimate interest
in how charities use their resources, and the
Annual Report and Accounts are one of
many ways in which charities
communicate with their stakeholders.
Nevertheless, the Annual Report and
Accounts should provide adequate
information to allow stakeholders to assess
the overall performance of a charity,
including sign-posting to where additional
details may be obtained.

In order to gauge how far best practice in
transparency and accountability is being
followed among the largest charities in the

sector, the Charity Commission carried out
an objective analysis of the Annual Reports
and Accounts of a sample of 200 of the
largest charities, plus an examination of
their Annual Reviews and websites. Our
analysis was not designed to assess the
extent of SORP compliance in the sector; it
examined SORP compliance as a base line
of accountability and went further to test
how far charities are transparent in
accounting for their performance. The
accessibility of the information contained
in Annual Reports and Accounts, Annual
Reviews and websites was therefore a key
feature of the analysis. Detailed findings
from the analysis are set out in the main
body of this report.2

The Annual Report and Accounts for each
charity, and Annual Review where
available, were examined by reference to
several criteria:

• Compliance with requirements of the
Charity SORP and regulations, mainly
relating to Annual Reports and SORP
paragraph 31.

• Provision of additional information in
Annual Reports to assist understanding
of each charity's structure, activities,
achievements and outcomes.

• The extent, clarity and timeliness of
information available to stakeholders
in Annual Reports and Accounts,
Annual Reviews and websites to help
them assess a charity's effectiveness
and performance.

• The availability of information to
enable meaningful comparisons
between charities of a similar type.

22



EExxeeccuuttiivvee  ssuummmmaarryy

Our analysis focused on three key issues
for transparency and accountability:

• The type and amount of information
provided.

• The place/s in which this information
was made available.

• The timeliness with which that
information was made available.

PPuubblliicc  aattttiittuuddeess  ssuurrvveeyy

We commissioned an independent
telephone survey of 1,000 members of the
public to investigate their views on the
information made available by charities. The
results show that the public consider the
principles of transparency and accountability
to be important.3

The following graph shows the percentages
of respondents who felt it was important or
very important for charities to make
information available across a range of areas:

3 Details of the survey methodology can be found in Annex A.

Percentage  of  respondents  who  considered  that  it  is  ‘important’  or  ‘very  important’  for  charities  to
provide  information  about:

Which charitable activities the charity has
spent its money on

What the charity has achieved (ie the impact
on society of the work they have undertaken)

The amount of money the charity spends on
raising money (including the cost of

fundraising staff)

The cost of the charity’s administration
(including staffing costs)

The charity’s financial policies (eg investment
policies and reserves)

How decisions are made in the charity and
who makes them

Where the charity gets its income from (eg
from donors/grants/investments/fees etc)

The charity’s registration number 49%

63%

63%

67%

73%

74%

84%

85%
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EExxeeccuuttiivvee  ssuummmmaarryy

4 See Table 25, Annex A.

The results show that information about
the areas of activity on which charities have
spent their money was considered to be the
most important. The charity's registration
number was least important to respondents.
Mean scores indicate that respondents
considered it important for charities to
provide information covering all the areas
mentioned in the survey.4

60% of respondents said that the ability to
compare important information between
charities would affect their decision about
which charity to support, while 35% said it
would not affect their choices. Respondents
used various sources to get information
about charities. The media was used most
often: 60% of respondents. Most respondents
used more than one source.

PPrrooffiillee  ooff  tthhee  cchhaarriittiieess  iinn  tthhee  ssaammppllee

The 200 charities selected for this study had
a financial year end of 31 March 2003,
incoming resources of £7.2bn (approximately
22% of sector income) and outgoing
resources of £7.0bn for that year. At the year
end they had total funds (excluding
endowments) of £5.9bn and free reserves of
£0.9bn.

Trading income and grants and fees from
central and local government were the
main sources of income for nearly 75% of
the charities surveyed. The main forms of
expenditure for 87% of them were providing
services to beneficiaries, providing grants
and financial assistance, and providing
buildings, facilities and open space.

Disclosure Number  of  charities  that
provided  good  detail  that

was  easy  to  find

List of trustees at year end and who served during the year 188

Statement of the charity’s statutory objects 161

Explanation of the charity’s aims and mission 152

Statement concerning reviewing risks 147

Explanation of the charity’s policy on reserves 131

Achievements for the year 126

44

RReeppoorrttiinngg  oonn  rreeqquuiirreedd  ddiisscclloossuurreess

The following areas of accountability are required by the Charity SORP and were covered by over
half of the sample in good detail and were easy to find in their Annual Report. These disclosures
were covered to the highest standard by the sample group.



EExxeeccuuttiivvee  ssuummmmaarryy

Charities were marked as providing no details in their Annual Report most often with respect to
the following required disclosures. These represent the areas in which charities performed worst.

Disclosure Number  of  charities  that
provided  no  detail

Summary of specific investment powers 106

Explanation of grant-making policies 97

Comment on performance of investments 95

Narrative relating to the contribution of volunteers 82

RReeppoorrttiinngg  oonn  bbeesstt  pprraaccttiiccee  ddiisscclloossuurreess

Charities provided the following best-practice disclosures, not required by the Charity SORP, in
good detail and in a way that was easy to find. These represent the areas in which charities in the
sample were good at going the extra mile in their Annual Report.

Disclosure Number  of  charities  that
provided  good  detail  that

was  easy  to  find

Explanation of how major risks were monitored/controlled 95

Provision of useful ratios 72

Comment on major sources of income and expenditure 71
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EExxeeccuuttiivvee  ssuummmmaarryy

AAnnnnuuaall  RReevviieewwss

There are no requirements to produce
Annual Reviews and they are not subject to
any audit scrutiny or consistency checks.
121 of the 200 charities in the survey
produce an Annual Review as well as their
Annual Report and Accounts and, of these,
83 were available for this study.

The style, structure and content of these
Reviews were much more attractive and
user-friendly than for Annual Reports. The
main purpose of most of the Reviews
seemed to be to provide general publicity for
the charity. A significant proportion were
also clearly aimed to help with fundraising,
and some seemed to be designed to act as
an enhancement to the Annual Report.

For a significant number of charities, poor
disclosure of required information in the
Annual Report (particularly about
activities, achievements and outcomes) was
compensated by presentation of these
details in the Annual Review. While it is
good that this information is being given,
Annual Reviews cannot not be used as a
substitute for Annual Reports.

FFiinnddiinnggss  bbyy  cchhaarriittyy  ttyyppee

We categorised charities by activity, main
source of income and main type of
expenditure. We then analysed whether
different groups had different levels of
transparency and accountability or
different areas of strength/weakness.

Charities of the following types were
significantly more likely to meet or exceed
minimum standards:

• The 12 charities that mainly carry out
International Activities tended to
provide better-than-average quality
information in most areas. They also
took significantly less time to file their
Reports and Accounts with the Charity
Commission.

• The 44 charities involved in Social
Services and Relief were significantly
better than average at giving the
information required in the Annual
Report, particularly at explaining their
impact and their outcomes.

• The 39 charities with Donations and
Legacies as their main sources of
income tended to produce visually
interesting Annual Reports and
Accounts and Annual Reviews and
provided cross-references in the
Annual Report to their websites. They
were also better than average at
explaining their outcomes and impacts
in their Annual Reports.

Charities of the following types were
significantly less likely to meet or exceed
minimum standards:

• The 20 Culture, Sports and Recreation
charities were slower than average at
filing their Annual Reports and
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EExxeeccuuttiivvee  ssuummmmaarryy

Accounts with the Charity Commission,
were worse at providing the required
information in their Annual Reports on
their activities and poorer at explaining
their benefits to wider society and how
their achievements compared with
their plans. This group has very low free
reserves yet their explanations of their
reserves policies in their Annual Reports
were also worse than the average.

• The 41 Health and Medical charities
were worse than average in making the
required disclosures in the Annual
Report generally.

• Housing and Community Affairs
charities, of which 16 of the 28 followed
the Registered Social Landlords (RSL)
SORP, were worse than average at
disclosures in the Annual Report,
particularly on explaining their reserves
and investment policies and powers.
These charities were also below average
at explaining in their Annual Reports
their outcomes and their impact.

• 73 charities relied mainly on
government (central and local) funding
as their major source of income. Their
general level of disclosure of
information was lower than the
average, particularly in terms of
providing adequate accounting policies
and notes to the Accounts.

• The 39 charities that mainly provide
Facilities were worse than average at
complying with the Charity SORP
requirements relating to the Annual
Report, particularly on reserves,
investments and risk management. 

TThhee  CChhaarriittyy  CCoommmmiissssiioonn''ss  vviieeww

Transparency of reporting is increasingly
important in charity management. Funding
bodies and the wider public demand
evidence of efficient stewardship of the
funds they donate, as does the Charity
Commission. Our findings support a
general feeling among sector commentators
that there is still scope for improvement in
the level of transparency and accountability.

Our continuing initiatives designed to
improve the level of transparency and
accountability include:

• Routine monitoring of Annual Reports
and Accounts and Annual Reviews,
and publicly identifying those charities
who persistently fail to submit on time.
The Charity Commission will consider
taking regulatory action against
charities that persistently default on
their responsibilities to submit their
statutory documents.
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EExxeeccuuttiivvee  ssuummmmaarryy

• The 'Accounts aren't optional' campaign,
which aims to highlight the crucial
importance of timely, accurate and
detailed submissions by targeting donors,
local authorities, auditors, financial
advisors and charities themselves.

• The Review Visits programme which
includes an assessment of a charity's
transparency and accountability as part
of its review of how effectively a
charity is performing.

• The forthcoming Standard Information
Return (SIR) which is designed to
highlight key qualitative and quantitative
information about the charity, in order
to ensure that the general public,
donors and investors are better
informed about the work of charities.

• The Charities SORP is reviewed
annually to ensure that it addresses the
sector’s needs and to take on board
new accounting standards and new
developments in the sector. This year’s
review is looking to address the need

for greater consistency in cost
allocations, and create a focus for better
reporting of objectives, activities
undertaken and the achievements and
impacts that result. The Charity
Commission is leading SORP
development that is designed to enable
each charity to use a reporting
framework that meets its own needs
and those of the sector.

We welcome initiatives such as Guidestar-
UK and The Charities' Accounts Awards,
both of which encourage charities to make
information available to stakeholders in a
way that facilitates their assessment of
charities' performance. Some charities are
actively recognising the importance of
accountability by presenting a statement of
their commitment to providing relevant
information, including an action plan of
how they intend to deliver on their
stakeholders' information needs.

Charities should take the lead from these
best practice examples to improve their
own transparency and accountability.
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Methods  of  communication

The main focus of this study is the
transparency with which trustees account
for the activities of their charity in the
Annual Report and Accounts, covering
legal requirements, recommendations of
the Charities SORP and developing good
reporting practice.

Many charities in our study produce an
Annual Review as well as an Annual
Report. An Annual Review is not required
by law and its contents are not subject to
any regulatory requirements.5 Our research
included an analysis of the information that
charities make available in their Annual
Reviews and websites. The aim was to
determine whether charities are using their
Annual Reviews to provide information
that should be included in the Annual
Report and also to see how far Annual
Reviews and other media are used to
enhance charities' transparency and
accountability.

SSiiggnn-ppoossttiinngg  bbeettwweeeenn  ccoommmmuunniiccaattiioonn
mmeeddiiaa

The Annual Report should provide a focal
point for all accountability by containing
the information required by law and the
Charities SORP.6 Further accountability
may be achieved through various forms of
communication, reflecting the various

needs of stakeholders.7 Most charities
produce a considerable amount of material
about themselves and their activities,
particularly where donations, legacies and
similar income provide the charity's main
incoming resources. Sign-posting from the
Annual Report and in other media to where
additional information can be found
enhances the transparency of trustees'
accountability for their charity's activities.
See Annex A, Table 13 for details of the
linkages provided by charities.

Sign-posting cannot be used as a substitute
for inclusion of mandatory information in
the Annual Report, however. This study
makes clear the areas in which reporting is
a requirement and indicates where best
practice suggestions can enhance that basic
level of transparency and accountability.

Charities reliant on donations and legacies
as their main source of income were
particularly good at:

• providing links between Annual
Reports and other documents to draw
together all their information; and

• producing more 'glossy' Annual
Reviews incorporating photographs
and different colours and fonts etc.

5 Annual Reviews are defined in Annex B.
6 The legal obligation to complete an Annual Report comes from Regulation 7(4) of the Charities Accounts and Reports
Regulations 2000, these underpin the matters set out in SORP.
7 Stakeholders may include: beneficiaries, donors and funders, volunteers, staff, interest groups, central, regional and
local government (as a funder or as a policy maker), partners or suppliers, the media and the public.
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AAnnnnuuaall  RReeppoorrtt  aanndd  AAccccoouunnttss

SSttaattuuttoorryy  rreeqquuiirreemmeennttss

Every charity with a gross income or total
expenditure in excess of £10,000 must
prepare an Annual Report and Accounts
and file them with the Charity Commission
no later than 10 months after the end of
their financial year.8 Both documents must
comply with the requirements set out in
statute and should follow the methods,
principles and disclosures set out in the
Statement of Recommended Practice:
Accounting and Reporting by Charities
(the Charities SORP) or a more specialist
SORP where relevant.

The Charities SORP sets out how a charity
should report on how it has used the
resources entrusted to it and on the
activities it undertakes. Preparing the
Annual Report and Accounts in accordance
with the Charities SORP will not only
ensure that a charity meets its legal
reporting duties but will also help to
provide stakeholders with a clear
understanding of the nature and extent of a
charity's work.

The Charities SORP applies to all charities
in the UK, except where another SORP
applies (eg Further and Higher Education
or Registered Social Landlords).9 The
Charity Commission expects all charities to
comply fully with the relevant SORP unless
there is good reason to diverge, in which
case any divergence must be clearly
explained in the Annual Report and

Accounts. A failure in SORP compliance
could indicate a failure of trustees' duties to
administer a charity properly. We may take
regulatory action if trustees cannot
adequately explain their failure to comply
with the Charities SORP.

We are committed to encouraging charities
to submit statutory reports on time. A
number of initiatives are ongoing:

• Routine monitoring of accounts
submissions and publicly identifying
those charities that persistently fail to
submit on time.

• If a charity continues to fail to submit
its accounts on time, we will consider
taking regulatory action.

• A compliance campaign called 'Accounts
aren't optional' which aims to highlight
the importance of timely, accurate and
detailed returns by targeting donors,
local authorities, auditors, financial
advisors and charities themselves.

AAvvaaiillaabbiilliittyy

To comply with legal requirements,
trustees must submit their Annual Report
and Accounts to the Charity Commission
within 10 months of their financial year
end. Timely submission also demonstrates
to stakeholders that the charity is willing to
be accountable to the regulator.

8 Filing obligation Charities Act 1993, section 45. Charities can choose the date for their financial year end.
9 See Table 2, Annex A for details of which SORP was applicable to the charities analysed.

MMeetthhooddss  ooff  ccoommmmuunniiccaattiioonn
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We make charities' Annual Reports and
Accounts available to other stakeholders
through the following means:

• All documents held on the public
register are available to any interested
party; this includes the governing
document and Annual Report and
Accounts.

• A recent pilot scheme has also made
this information available online for
300 of the largest charities.

• Extracts of the key details for every
registered charity can be accessed
online via the 'search the register'
facility on our website.

• We are committed to supporting the
Guidestar-UK initiative which will
allow stakeholders greater access to
key information about charities.

Some charities facilitate this availability
themselves by publishing their accounts on
their website or distributing them to
members, and we welcome this. Charities

must make their Annual Report and
Accounts available to anyone on request
(Charities Act 1993, part V1, s.47 (2)).

TTiimmeelliinneessss

Our analysis examined the timeliness of
submission of Annual Reports and Accounts
to the Charity Commission and the stages
that charities' Accounts go through before
filing. The results are as follows:

• 13 charities failed to file their Annual
Report and Accounts with the Charity
Commission within the statutory 10
month deadline (7%).

• Almost half of the charities had their
Accounts approved within 122 days
(by 31 July), and one within 52 days of
its year end.

• On average, auditors took 5 days to
sign their audit report after the trustees
had done so. Trustees then took a
further 93 days on average to file the
report and financial statements with
the Commission.10

MMeetthhooddss  ooff  ccoommmmuunniiccaattiioonn

10 The charities in this analysis were sufficiently large to require an annual audit of their Accounts. The auditors are
only legally required to express an opinion on the Accounts, although their professional rules also require them to be
satisfied that nothing in the Annual Report, and other statements published with the Accounts, conflicts with
information disclosed in the Accounts.

Stage Average  time Range  (shortest  -
taken  (days) longest  time

period  -  days)

Year end � Trustee sign off 154 52 - 308

Trustee sign off � Auditor sign off 5 0 - 91

Auditor sign off � File with the Charity Commission 93 3 - 234

Total (year end to filing with the Charity Commission) 252
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The Annual Report and Accounts are a key
part of accountability and should be made
available to all stakeholders as soon as
possible after the period to which they
relate.

Trustees should file their Report and
Accounts as soon as possible; there is no
reason to hold on to them for so long after
the auditor has signed them off.

QQuuaalliittyy  ooff  rreeppoorrttiinngg

Timeliness of submission is not sufficient if
the Report and Accounts are of a poor quality.

• 9 sets of the Reports and Accounts in
this analysis did not contain all the
required signatures - a failure rate of
4.5%.

• 3 sets of Accounts had mathematical
errors even though they had been
approved and signed by the trustees
and the auditors.

• One audit firm had signed and dated
its Audit Report a few weeks before the
trustees had approved and signed the
Accounts.

There is room for improvement here. We
are disappointed that these kinds of errors
appear in Reports and Accounts of charities
of this size.

SSttyyllee  aanndd  pprreesseennttaattiioonn  ooff  AAnnnnuuaall
RReeppoorrttss  aanndd  AAnnnnuuaall  RReevviieewwss

Our analysis showed little overlap between
the various channels that charities use to
communicate with their stakeholders.

• 75 % of the 83 Annual Reviews
available for this study provided
information that was additional to that
provided in the Annual Report.

(See Table 21, Annex A for a breakdown of
the areas in which information was
additional or duplicated.)

This lack of duplication could be due in
part to the fact that the documents are
targeting different audiences. The style and
presentation of the Annual Report and
Accounts suggest they are mainly designed
for the regulator whereas the Annual
Review appears to be used for more general
publicity and fundraising purposes.

MMeetthhooddss  ooff  ccoommmmuunniiccaattiioonn
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MMeetthhooddss  ooff  ccoommmmuunniiccaattiioonn

Some reviews appeared to have a dual purpose and were marked accordingly. Based on their
appearance and content, we judged that:

Purpose  of  charities’  Annual  Reviews

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

77% were designed for general publicity purposes

45% were designed to be an enhancement to the
Annual Report

42% were designed to aid fundraising

Base:  83

Annual Reports often give little information
about activities and achievements during
the year or only contain high-level
information about activities; extra
information of this kind is given in the
Annual Review. We considered that a
significant number of the Annual Reviews
were more "reader friendly" and visually
interesting than the Annual Reports,
making greater use of different type styles,

photographs, diagrams and quotes from
beneficiaries. Nevertheless, we judged 95%
of the Annual Reports to be easy to read,
incorporating good use of headings, clear
narrative etc. It is good practice to present
information in an accessible style, free from
jargon, so it is encouraging that the
majority of the charities we analysed are
presenting their information in a transparent
way.
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MMeetthhooddss  ooff  ccoommmmuunniiccaattiioonn

Of the 83 Annual Reviews we examined:

• 65 (78%) contained self-explanatory
graphs and tables.

• 55 (66%) contained quotations from
beneficiaries.

• 80 (96%) used photographs to help to
get the messages across.

• 69 (83%) used a more accessible writing
style than in the Annual Report.

This compares to the following use of
presentation aids in Annual Reports:

• 8% incorporated self-explanatory
graphs.

• 17% had tables.
• 10% had photographs.
• 65 (78%) of the Reviews contained

summarised accounts, in contrast to
the 10-20 pages in the full accounts in
the Report.

Charities provided information in their
Annual Review that was additional to the
Report in the following areas:

• Financial ratios 29 (35% of the available
Reviews).

• Headline figures 50 (60%).
• Impact information 78 (94%).
• Outcome information 77 (93%).
• Future plans 59 (71%).

On a few occasions, the title given to the
Annual Review was "Annual Report", even
though in each case there was a separate
Annual Report produced in compliance

with section 45 of the Charities Act 1993
attached to the Accounts. Also, some
charities produced a combined Annual
Report and Accounts/Annual Review
document. Whilst there are some benefits
to having everything in one publication,
this could cause confusion as to which
parts of the booklet are the statutory
documents. When charities produce a
combined document, it is important that
they correctly label each section to clarify
which section is the Annual Report.

In other instances the Annual Review
related to several "associated" charities (eg
Registered Social Landlords) or, conversely,
a regional body produced an overview of
the year's activities. This could be confusing
and compromise the transparency of
charities' reporting. Trustees should ensure
that it is clear to which charity an Annual
Review relates.

Some charities are clearly making use of
Annual Reviews in a way that enhances the
level of accountability provided by the
Annual Report and Accounts. This is good
practice as it allows charities to provide
extra and more detailed information that
does not belong in the Annual Report. To
make the most of this potential, charities
should ensure that they tell readers where
the extra information is. Tables 13 and 24
show that trustees do not currently make
the link from their Annual Report to other
communication media to the extent that
they might.
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MMeetthhooddss  ooff  ccoommmmuunniiccaattiioonn

AAcccceessssiibbiilliittyy  ooff  AAnnnnuuaall  RReevviieewwss

The Annual Reviews we studied were
downloaded from websites, obtained on
request from the charity, or retrieved from our
records if charities had filed them at the same
time as the Annual Report and Accounts.

• 10 Annual Reviews obtained from
websites were for the previous year (ie to
March 2002) even though the March 2003
report and financial statements had been
filed with the Commission.

• Some Reviews were difficult to
download from the website or, when
downloaded, were difficult to read.

• A few Annual Reviews were not on the
website at all and could only be
obtained direct from the charity.

• One charity charged £15 for a hard
copy of its Annual Review.

• One charity produced a biannual Review
and stated that it was produced only if
there were enough funds to do so.

Annual Reviews are an important means of
providing extra information to stakeholders
that the Annual Report and Accounts do
not cover or cover in a way that is less
accessible to the lay reader. To maximise
the benefits of an Annual Review in
enhancing transparency and accountability,
charities should give more consideration to
the ease with which stakeholders can
obtain a copy of their Annual Review.

WWeebbssiitteess

Websites can be a key source of information
about a charity's activities and priorities.

• Of the 188 charities in the survey that
had a website, 21% mentioned their
website in their Annual Report.

When obtaining the Annual Reviews for
this research, we found the majority of
charities' websites fairly easy to navigate
but some were perplexing and
cumbersome, taking at least 10 hits to
locate the relevant page. With the
increasing use of the web by all types of
stakeholder, charities should give more
consideration to their website as a means of
providing their Annual Report and
Accounts and their Annual Review.

AAss  bbeesstt  pprraaccttiiccee,,  ttrruusstteeeess  sshhoouulldd::

• Consider undertaking a survey of
stakeholders to determine their
information needs.

• Review the website regularly to check
that information is up to date and easy
to access, and make the Annual Report
and Accounts available on line where
possible.

• Consider cross-referring to the website
and Annual Review in the Annual
Report.

• Include summarised Accounts in the
Annual Review to help people without
accounting experience to understand
them.
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MMeetthhooddss  ooff  ccoommmmuunniiccaattiioonn

• Issue their Annual Review
simultaneously with the Annual
Reports and Accounts to improve the
availability of up-to-date information.
In due course trustees should also
ensure that the information in the
Standard Information Return relates to
the same period.

• Ensure that each section of a combined
document is correctly labelled so that it
is clear which section of the booklet is
the Annual Report, produced to fulfil
the requirements of section 45,
Charities Act 1993 and that the Annual
Report contains all the information
required by the Regulations, the
Charities SORP and, where relevant,
the Companies Act 1985.

IIlllluussttrraattiivvee  eexxaammpplleess  ooff  bbeesstt  pprraaccttiiccee  iinncclluuddee::

A charity established to help the blind produces a version of its Annual Review in Braille.
Another charity working in a similar field produces its report in a larger typeface to help its
beneficiaries read it.

Welsh charities that produce their Annual Reviews in Welsh as well as English.

An Annual Review in the form of a desk calendar to improve its impact and accessibility.

An Annual Report containing a visual representation of the charity's priorities for the year, with
their beneficiaries at the top of the chart providing the focus.
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Statements  about  what  the  charity  exists  to  do

CChhaarriittaabbllee  oobbjjeeccttss

The Charities SORP states that, as part of
explaining what the charity is set up to do
and how it is going about it, the Annual
Report should include "an explanation of
the objects of the charity. This should be by
reference to the governing document but
may also include the mission statement of
the charity" (para 31).

Transparency and accountability require
that a charity explains what it is set up to
do and what its activities are in that
context. The charity's objects are the legal
basis and rationale for its existence and
should inform everything it does. A
statement of objects in the Annual Report,
plus a statement of aims and mission,
enables stakeholders to see the charity's
purpose and how all other elements of the
Report relate to its achievement of that
purpose.

Our analysis of 200 Annual Reports found
that:

• 81% described their objects in 'good
detail, easy to find'.

• 76% provided an explanation of the
charity's aims and mission in 'good
detail, easy to find'.

• 14% gave 'some' or 'few' details about
the charity's objects.

• 22% gave 'some' or 'few' details about
the charity's aims and mission.

• 11 charities gave no details at all about
their objects.

• 5 charities gave no explanation of the
charity's aims and mission.

Of the 11 charities that gave no details
about their objects, 36% gave good details
about their aims and mission instead.

Charities which provide little or no
information about their objects, aims and
mission are failing in a key aspect of
transparency and accountability. There is
room for improvement in this area.

CChhaarriittaabbllee  ssttaattuuss

The registered number of a charity is
evidence of a charity's status and that its
objects are wholly charitable; the Charity
Commission will not register an
organisation unless satisfied that its objects
are wholly charitable and of public benefit.
There are a number of exceptions and
exemptions to registration but all the
charities in our sample were registered. All
Annual Reports should disclose the
charity's registration number so that
stakeholders can easily identify the
organisation, verify that it is a registered
charity and make further enquiries about
the charity if they wish.

• 95% of the 200 charities analysed
disclosed their registered charity
number.

• Over half of the defaulters were
Registered Social Landlords (RSLs),
which are subject to a SORP that does
not require the charity number to be
stated.
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SSttaatteemmeennttss  aabboouutt  wwhhaatt  tthhee  cchhaarriittyy  eexxiissttss  ttoo  ddoo

The registered charity number is basic
information that should never be omitted
from information provided by a charity,
even where it is not specifically required by
their SORP.

CCaatteeggoorriissaattiioonn  ooff  cchhaarriittiieess

Transparency in the Annual Report
includes disclosure of a charity's type. The
ease with which stakeholders can allocate a
charity to an appropriate category is made
more important by the increasing use of
comparative data about charities;
meaningful comparisons can only be made
if stakeholders can compare like with like.

Our analysis included an attempt to
categorise the charities in four different
ways - by governing document, activity,
key income sources, and type of charitable
expenditure.

BByy  ggoovveerrnniinngg  ddooccuummeenntt

Knowledge of the legal form of a charity, as
determined by its governing document,
provides a context for all other information
provided about the charity. Disclosure of a
charity's legal form is also required by the
Charities SORP.11 Charities should always
disclose this information. 

• 85% of the charities analysed stated
their type of governing document in
their Annual Report.

• 15% failed to disclose adequate
information on their type of governing
document.

• 74% of the 200 charities were companies
limited by guarantee.

• Those charities failing to disclose their
type of governing document were
nearly all companies limited by
guarantee - giving a failure rate for that
type of charity of around 20%.

BByy  aaccttiivviittyy

We used information disclosed in the
Annual Report to put each charity into an
appropriate category of activity.12 In most
cases adequate information was available
to do so easily. See Annex A, Table 3 for
details.

BByy  mmaajjoorr  ssoouurrccee((ss))  ooff  iinnccoommee  aanndd  ttyyppee  ooff
eexxppeennddiittuurree

It was relatively easy to allocate charities to
an appropriate category based on their
major sources of income and also by their
type of expenditure because the standard of
disclosure in the Statement of Financial
Activities and supporting notes was
generally good.13

Stakeholders' ability to recognise a charity's
type from its Annual Report is a key part of
transparency and accountability which
charities of the size analysed ought to be
doing well. While they were generally
good at disclosing their activity and type of
income and expenditure, there is room for
improvement in these charities' disclosure
of their legal form.

11 The five main types of charity are - limited companies (usually limited by guarantee), unincorporated charities
(trusts or associations), charities incorporated by Royal Charter and charities incorporated under an Act of Parliament.
Their governing documents are, respectively, the Memorandum and Articles of Association, the Trust Deed or
constitution, the Royal Charter or the Act.
12 The categories used are those set out in the Caritas Data Top 3000.
13 The categories of income used in this analysis were mainly derived from the Charities SORP. The categories of
expenditure were derived from the classifications used on the Charity Commission’s Annual Return.

1188



SSttaatteemmeennttss  aabboouutt  wwhhaatt  tthhee  cchhaarriittyy  eexxiissttss  ttoo  ddoo

There is no established method of
categorising charities by activity within the
sector, and that could cause difficulties for
stakeholders who want to make meaningful
comparisons between them.14

For all elements of transparency and
accountability covered in our analysis, we
broke down the findings to see whether
there were any significant variations from the
norm based on charity type. The results are
set out in the relevant sections of this report.

AAss  bbeesstt  pprraaccttiiccee,,  ttrruusstteeeess  sshhoouulldd::

• Provide details of what their objects
mean in practice, perhaps by including
a mission statement or statement of
aims and key objectives.

• Explain how activities undertaken
relate to achievement of objects.

• Consider whether it is appropriate to
show that any changes in activities still
fall within objects.

• Make a statement that the charity's
objects are still appropriate, showing
that they have considered this (which
could include consideration of whether
or not to wind up, merge, change
objects, change mode of operation).

• Provide information that enables
stakeholders to understand the
purpose and activities so as to facilitate
comparison with other similar
charities.

14 For example, a charity that provides physical assets to beneficiaries (which would put it in one category) may do so
for a purpose that falls into another category - a charity providing housing to a particular class of beneficiary could fall
into either “Housing and Community affairs” or “Social Services and Relief”.
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Inputs

The provision of clearly accessible
information about a charity's inputs is
essential to enable stakeholders to compare
its inputs with outputs and thus assess
whether it is using its resources effectively.

This chapter examines the clarity with
which charities disclose input details and
their inter-relationship with the charity's
aims, objectives, activities, performance
and achievements, and future plans.

PPeeooppllee

TTrruusstteeeess

In this report the section on organisational
structure deals with disclosures concerning
trustees.

EEmmppllooyyeeeess

On the whole, the charities analysed were
good at reporting basic information on the
number of staff they employ and the areas
in which they are employed. That is
required information in a note to the
Accounts that has not changed for many
years.

However, the Annual Reports did not
generally contain much comment on staff
numbers during the year or on major
changes in the way staff are organised
including deployment, training and how
this contributes to organisational
objectives. These details about staff are
important so that stakeholders have a clear
picture of how the charity is being run and
how its resources are being spent.

• 60 Annual Reports contained good
detail of staff and staffing levels (30%).

• 49 charities made no mention of staff at
all (25%).

VVoolluunntteeeerrss

The input of volunteers is often significant
to the running of a charity. Volunteers carry
out a range of activities including
fundraising and administrative functions.

• 54% of the Annual Reports for charities
with volunteers included comment on
their contribution.

• Often this comment provided minimal
details.

Charities are required to provide narrative
about the effectiveness of volunteers in
their Annual Report but are not required to
place a value on their contribution in the
Accounts. Without information on the
extent to which volunteers contribute to a
charity's activities, stakeholders are unable
to make meaningful judgements about its
performance and efficiency. Where a
charity makes significant use of volunteers
in the course of undertaking its charitable
or income generating activities this should
be explained. Whilst measurement issues,
including attributing an economic value to
such unpaid voluntary contributions,
prevents the inclusion of such contributions
within the Statement of Financial Activities,
it is nevertheless important for readers to
be provided with sufficient information to
understand the role and contribution of
volunteers. Such information may, for
example, explain the activities that
volunteers help provide, quantify the
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IInnppuuttss

contribution in terms of hours or staff
equivalents, and may present an indicative
value of this contribution.

The charities we analysed were generally
good at meeting reporting requirements in
relation to human resources but they could
do more to provide the kind of extra
information that gives stakeholders a
complete picture of the contribution of the
people involved in their work.

PPrrooppeerrttyy

For the purposes of this analysis, property
includes land, buildings and other tangible
assets (such as computers and software,
vehicles and fixtures and fittings) that are
reflected in the financial statements and also
other tangible and intangible assets that may
or may not be reflected in the Accounts.15

• 17% of Annual Reports analysed were
considered to have included good
detail about the charity's tangible and
intangible assets, and a further 13%
gave some details.

• Often, the only comment was a cross-
reference to the relevant note to the
Accounts.

There is no requirement to provide details
of property in the Annual Report. However,
without these details stakeholders cannot
appreciate the full extent of the charity's
assets and the contribution they make to
activities and the achievement of

objectives. It is good practice to give this
information in order to be fully accountable
rather than merely compliant with
statutory requirements.

FFiinnaannccee  aanndd  iinnccoommee

The charities included in the analysis had
total incoming resources for the year to 31
March 2003 of £7.2bn. We would expect a
high standard of transparency and
accountability from these charities to
enable stakeholders to judge how
effectively they have used these substantial
resources.

The three main sources of income for the
charities we analysed were:

• Trading income (38%).
• Grants/fees from central or local

government (37%).
• Donations, legacies and similar income

(20%).

The Accounts, if they comply with the
Charities SORP, will tell the reader the
charity's major sources of income.
However, many stakeholders will not be
experienced in interpreting Accounts and
will look to the trustees to explain in the
Annual Report what the figures mean. An
explanation of income and year on year
changes is good practice that ensures all
stakeholders understand the resources a
charity has had at its disposal.

15 For example, historic or inalienable assets that have not been capitalised, patents, licences and trademarks, the
charity’s name and/or logo.
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IInnppuuttss

Some of the charities gave sparse
commentary on financial matters, referring
the reader instead to the attached Accounts.
Others provided considerable commentary,
explaining the major elements of the
Accounts and the reasons for significant
changes year on year.

• 36% of charities provided good
explanation of the major sources of
income for the year.

• 53% provided some explanation.
• 13% provided no explanation at all.

The analysis also looked at the explanatory
notes and comment to the Statement of
Financial Activities (SoFA):

• 38% had one or more explanatory notes
missing.

• The most significant omissions were
analysis and explanation for fees/grants
receivable, donations and legacies and
income from shops and from charitable
activities (see Annex A, Tables 16 and
17 for more details).

FFuunnddrraaiissiinngg  iinnccoommee

Comment in the Annual Report on the
effectiveness of fundraising activities,
when they are significant, is specifically
required by the Charities SORP and is
essential for stakeholders' understanding
of how a charity derives its income.

Our analysis found that:

• 30% of the charities provided good,
easy-to-find narrative in their Annual
Reports concerning fundraising.

• 38% gave some details.
• 22% said nothing at all.

The Annual Reviews did not generally
provide any greater clarity in this area.
Although 42% of Annual Reviews appeared
to be designed to assist fundraising (Table
22), they mainly showed the use to which
funds had been put rather than detailing
the success (or otherwise) of fundraising
efforts. For example, new fundraising
initiatives may have high start-up costs that
impact on fundraising performance.

Considering the interest and comment that
this area of charities' activities generates,
this low level of detail in Annual Reports
and Reviews is surprising. There is
considerable scope for improvement here.

IInnttaannggiibbllee  iinnccoommee

Most charities receive benefits for which
they do not pay, or for which they pay at a
substantially discounted rate.16 The Charities
SORP requires that, where this occurs and
is quantifiable and measurable, it should be
reflected in the Accounts either at cost to
the donor or at a valuation made by the
trustees.

16 This section excludes the contribution of volunteers as dealt with earlier.
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IInnppuuttss

Examples of this include where a charity
receives free accommodation, has part of its
administration services provided free by a
commercial company or where staff are
"lent" by a commercial company to the
charity without charge. In all these cases
the notes to the Accounts ought to at least
recognise that these free services are being
provided and, if it is impossible to put a
value on them, to say so.

A number of charities' financial statements
indicated that there were no employees and
no property costs. This is clearly not the
case because the charity could not function
without them. Where this information is
missing, stakeholders cannot judge how
effectively the charity is using its resources. 

In a significant number of the Annual
Reports and Accounts analysed, trustees
did not refer to free or heavily discounted
goods and services. This suggests they are
unaware of the requirement to bring them
into the Accounts if they are material and if
the value is quantifiable and measurable.

Transparency in reporting demands that
stakeholders can easily access information
about all significant inputs to a charity.
Where it is not a requirement that certain
details are provided in the Annual Report,
trustees should say where more information
is available. The percentage of charities
providing a good level of information

about inputs in the areas covered in this
analysis is disappointing and there is
significant scope for improvement.

AAss  bbeesstt  pprraaccttiiccee,,  ttrruusstteeeess  sshhoouulldd::

• Provide more detail of the extent of
volunteer support in the Annual
Report by including an estimate of
their time as a number of charities
already do. When linked to the
employee data already disclosed, this
would provide a much more complete
picture of the time input to the running
of the charity from all sources.17

• Consider how best to reflect goods,
services and time for which the charity
does not pay at all, or pays for at a
substantial discount, and ensure
appropriate disclosure in the Accounts
and appropriate commentary in the
Annual Report.

• Include comment in their Annual Report
on the scope and financial outcome of
fundraising activities, including start
up costs, in order to enhance their
accountability in addition to complying
with the Charities SORP.

• Ensure that the Annual Report includes
adequate comment on income sources,
fluctuations year on year and
performance against budget.

17 The Charity Finance Directors’ Group produced a discussion document in 2003 (“Inputs matter - Improving the
quality of reporting in the charity sector”) that suggested that the time devoted to the charity by volunteers should be
included in the Accounts, valued at a standard rate.
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IInnppuuttss

• Consider going beyond the Charities
SORP's (and where relevant,
Companies Act 1985) requirements by
providing in their Annual Report a
summary of the charity's major assets
(whether capitalised or not), the use
that is made of them and major
changes to them during the year. Sign-
posting to where full details of tangible

and intangible assets can be found is
also good practice.

• Consider whether naming their chief
executive and senior executives and
including biographical details in their
Annual Report would be useful for
their stakeholders.
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Activities  and  achievements

Every charity exists to serve a specific
purpose as set out in its governing
document. To be registered as charitable,
the purpose of an organisation must serve a
public benefit. So information about a
charity's activities and achievements is a
key element of its accountability to
stakeholders. Without a clear idea of what a
charity has achieved with its resources,
stakeholders cannot see whether the
charity is operating effectively and in the
public benefit.

This chapter looks at the disclosures
charities make to show what they have
done during the year and, most
importantly, what they have achieved and
the benefits they have delivered.

The required disclosure in the Charities
SORP is quite broad. It gives trustees
flexibility in how they report on activities
and achievements so that the specific
circumstances of their charity can be
reflected. We have issued more guidance in
this area in RReeppoorrttiinngg  tthhee  AAccttiivviittiieess  aanndd
AAcchhiieevveemmeennttss  ooff  CChhaarriittiieess  iinn  TTrruusstteeeess''
AAnnnnuuaall  RReeppoorrttss (CCCC5599).

With regard to reporting on achievements,
our analysis found that:

• 63% of Annual Reports contained good
detail on achievements in the year.

• 23% gave some information on these
matters.

• 8% gave only a few details.
• 7% gave no details at all, thus failing to

meet a Charities SORP requirement.
• 65% stated what the charity had done

to further its objects.
• 37% commented on how the activities

had benefited users of the charity.

Particularly good at providing these details
were the 12 International Activities
charities (83% presented good detail), the
12 Religious charities (75%) and the 44
Social Services and Relief charities (75%).

The 39 charities whose main source of
income was donations and legacies were
better than average at explaining in their
Annual Reports their outcomes and
impact. 72% gave good explanation of what
the charities had done to achieve their
objects (overall average 65%) and 44% gave
good detail on the benefit of the charities'
activities to their users (overall average
37%).

Our research showed that, while the
Annual Report often gives minimal
information about activity and
achievements, the Annual Review tends to
complete the picture:

• 93% of the Annual Reviews gave
considerable detail about outcomes
and impact that did not duplicate the
Annual Reports.

Reporting on activities, and their impact
and outcomes, is a key element of
accountability. The Home Office response
to the Strategy Unit report Private Action,
Public Benefit included the following
recommendation on the proposed new
Standard Information Return (SIR) for
larger charities (those with annual income
over £1 million). The Home Office
recommends that the SIR should:

"Highlight key qualitative and
quantitative information about the
charity, focusing on how it sets
objectives and measures outcomes
against these."
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AAccttiivviittiieess  aanndd  aacchhiieevveemmeennttss

Transparency demands that stakeholders
can readily access information about a
charity's activities and achievements. It is
therefore encouraging that so many
charities provide details of the year's
activities in their Annual Report, although
there is room for improvement among the
15% that provided little or no detail.

Information about activities in the Annual
Review should not be used as a substitute
for a basic level of accountability in the
Annual Report. In addition to summarising
the key results, it is good practice for the
Annual Report to refer readers to where
more information can be found. In our
analysis, where the Annual Review did
provide more information in this area, only
24% of Annual Reports gave a cross-
reference to the relevant material.

EExxppeennddiittuurree

The three main types of charitable
expenditure for the charities analysed
were:

• Providing services (eg care/counselling)
(47%).

• Providing financial assistance (eg grant
awarding to individuals and/or
organisations (20%).

• Providing buildings/facilities/open
space (20%).

Most charities provided good notes to the
Accounts to explain all their major sources
of expenditure, although one or more
explanatory notes were missing for 75 of
the charities (38%).

We examined comment in the Annual
Reports about unusual financial items such
as a large deficit in a defined benefit
pension scheme, large reorganisation costs
and/or redundancy costs, or large one-off
charitable expenditure. Of the 148 charities
appearing to have such items:

• 46 (31%) of Annual Reports gave good
detail to explain these matters.

• 32 (22%) gave some detail.
• 70 (47%) gave no details at all.

By contrast, a much higher proportion of
Annual Reviews gave information on
financial matters:

• 60% of the Annual Reviews gave
headline figures that were not in the
Annual Report.

• 35% gave financial ratios that were not
in the Annual Report.

• 78% gave summarised financial
information.

The charities in the survey had total
outgoing resources for the year to 31 March
2003 of £7bn. It is extremely important that
trustees are accountable for how that
money is spent.
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AAccttiivviittiieess  aanndd  aacchhiieevveemmeennttss

IImmppaacctt

The impact of a charity's activities is of
great interest to stakeholders as a measure
of its effectiveness in applying its resources
for public benefit.

• 16% of the Annual Reports explained
in detail how the year's activities had
benefited wider society.

• 34% gave limited information.
• 51% gave no details at all.

Analysis of the survey results by type of
charity activity shows that:

• Charities classed as Conservation and
Protection were better than average at
demonstrating their benefit to wider
society in their Annual Reports. 33%
gave detailed information.

• None of the 20 charities in the Culture,
Sports and Recreation category gave
details in their Annual Report as to
how their work benefited wider society.

Charity trustees need to regularly reassess
how the activities of the charity impact on
society and provide a public benefit.
Anecdotal evidence suggests that more and
more charities are starting to study this aspect
of their work as a matter of routine and we
would encourage this trend along with
reporting on the issue in the Annual Report.
Reporting on the impact of a charity's
activities is not a Charities SORP requirement
but it is a key part of best practice in
transparency and accountability to which
charities should be giving greater attention.
Failure to comment on impact does not
mean that trustees do not consider it, but
may leave stakeholders with that impression.

AA  ggoooodd  pprraaccttiiccee  eexxaammppllee::

One charity we reviewed produced a detailed and informative "Impact Report" as part of its
Annual Report and Accounts. This elaborated on the charity's strategic aims, translating them
into impact measures and targets that stakeholders could then use when looking at its
performance over the last year.

AAcchhiieevveemmeennttss  aaggaaiinnsstt  ttaarrggeettss

Most charities set themselves targets for the
year which may be related to finance or to
activities. Monitoring achievements against
these targets and reporting on progress is
an important aspect of accountability that
enables interested parties to judge how
well the charity is doing.

• 30 charities (15%) had included good
details in their Annual Reports on how
actual achievements matched their plans.

• 88 (44%) had given limited information.
• 82 (41%) gave no details at all.

There was one significant variation from
these findings. Only one Culture, Sports and
Recreation charity out of 20 gave good detail
on how its achievements compared to plans.
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AAccttiivviittiieess  aanndd  aacchhiieevveemmeennttss

AAcchhiieevveemmeenntt  ooff  rreesseerrvveess  aanndd  iinnvveessttmmeenntt
ppoolliiccyy  ttaarrggeettss

• 80% of Annual Reports gave some
details of performance against reserves
policy, but 20% did not.

• 83 out of 178 of the Annual Reports of
charities that had investments gave
some comments on investment
performance against targets, but 95
(53%) gave no comments at all.

We appreciate that the last year or two have
been very difficult in the investment
markets, but this does not justify reducing
the level of transparency and accountability
by failing to give a statement of policy and
a statement of performance against it.

Reporting on performance against reserves
policy targets is not a Charities SORP
requirement but it is an important area of
transparency and one in which there is
room for improvement. The Annual Report
can provide an overview with the details
elsewhere; cross-referencing to sources of
further information is good practice.

SSuubbssiiddiiaarryy  ccoommppaanniieess''  aacchhiieevveemmeennttss

The Charities SORP requires that charities
comment on the activities and achievements
of their subsidiary companies. A significant
number of Annual Reports did not do so.

The accountability of trustees applies to all
parts of the charity; failure to report on the
activities of a subsidiary means that

stakeholders are not informed about a
potentially significant aspect of the
charity's activities.

AAss  bbeesstt  pprraaccttiiccee,,  ttrruusstteeeess  sshhoouulldd::

• Ensure that their Annual Report gives
enough information about the charity's
activities and achievements to comply
with their SORP requirements and then
either expand this or provide good
cross-references to where the extra
detail can be found.

• Ensure that their reporting of
achievements covers the work of their
subsidiary where relevant.

• Bear in mind that many of their
stakeholders will not be experienced in
interpreting Accounts and will look to
the trustees to explain what the figures
mean. Such explanation should be
contained in the Annual Report, as
required by the Charities SORP; where
amplified in the Annual Review, a
suitable cross-reference should be
made.

• Indicate in their Annual Report that
attention has been given to impact
when reviewing the charity's strategy.

• Disclose in their Annual Report details
of key targets that have been set for the
year and performance against them.
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AAccttiivviittiieess  aanndd  aacchhiieevveemmeennttss

AAnn  iilllluussttrraattiivvee  eexxaammppllee::

A charity that was selected for a review visit did not make much information to the public
available about its aims and activities. This gave the impression that the charity might not be
operating effectively.

During the visit it became clear that the charity was a very active and dynamic organisation and
had simply failed to communicate this to its stakeholders, including the Charity Commission.

Charity Commission staff advised the trustees to make the rationale of the charity, how it
operates and its success stories available via its Annual Report, on its website and in other
documents so that the public could form a greater understanding of its work.

In this instance the work of a well-run charity was undermined by its failure to be fully
accountable to its stakeholders.

Our review visits programme consistently identifies a number of charities which have
demonstrated good levels of transparency in many ways, such as a detailed and informative
Chair's Report, but which fail to comply with some of the basic Charity SORP requirements.

Trustees should provide in their Annual Report details on the benefit to society of the charity's
activities and achievements. Demonstrating the public benefit provided by the charity is a key area
of accountability.
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Organisational  structure  and  processes

The robustness of management structures
and significant internal processes of
charities is vital to the effective delivery of
their services. A key element of
transparency and accountability is the
ability of stakeholders to find out from the
Annual Report and Accounts who the
trustees are, how they have organised the
charity and the key processes they use to
run it. This chapter reviews the levels of
disclosure by charities on these structures
and processes.

DDeettaaiillss  aabboouutt  ttrruusstteeeess  aanndd  ccoommmmiitttteeeess

The Charities SORP requires that trustees
provide "a description of the organisational
structure of the charity and how decisions
are made".

WWhhoo  aarree  tthhee  ttrruusstteeeess??

The Charities SORP requires each charity to
state in the Annual Report the names of the
trustees at the time the report was signed
and throughout the financial year covered
by the Annual Report. It also requires
disclosure of other details relating to
trustees, principally concerning the method
of appointing them and who makes the
appointment. 

The trustees of a charitable company are
appointed by its members. In some
instances the members and the trustees
may be the same people. To aid
transparency, the Annual Report should
provide complete clarity and full details on
how the trustees are appointed.

DDeelleeggaattiioonn  ttoo  ccoommmmiitttteeeess

Many boards of trustees, particularly of
larger charities, delegate some of their
functions to committees. This can be a
positive way of working: it allows more
time to be devoted to matters delegated to
the committee and enables non-trustees to
be involved, thus broadening the spread of
relevant expertise to help in decision-
making.

Stakeholders should be able to ascertain
which decisions are delegated and to
whom so that they can tell how decisions
are made.

RReemmuunneerraattiioonn  aanndd  eexxppeennsseess

As a general rule, trustees may not be
remunerated unless their governing
document gives the power to do so or
unless the prior permission of the Charity
Commission has been obtained. The
Charities SORP requires the remuneration
paid to trustees to be disclosed and nature
and amount of expenses reimbursed to
trustees to be set out in the notes to the
Accounts.

There is also a requirement to confirm that
trustees have not been remunerated or that
no expenses have been reimbursed.

• Only 3 out of the 200 charities failed to
set out the required details concerning
who the trustees were at the time the
Annual Report was signed and
throughout the financial year.
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OOrrggaanniissaattiioonnaall  ssttrruuccttuurree  aanndd  pprroocceesssseess

• 39% gave full details of the process by
which trustees are appointed and 40%
gave some information.

• 22% gave no details about the
appointment process for trustees at all.

• 53% provided some kind of details for
their committees.

Inadequate information in these areas
means that stakeholders do not know who
is ultimately accountable for the charity's
activities. This is a key area of transparency
so the figure of 22% that provide no
information about the appointment of
trustees is not acceptable.

• 94% of charities provided the required
information in their Annual Report
about trustee remuneration and
reimbursement of expenses.

• Very few made a statement to the effect
that there had been no remuneration.

It is good to see that the majority of
charities provide the required information
about remuneration. We would like to see
more charities going beyond the bare
minimum requirements to provide complete
clarity on trustee expenses and remuneration.

OOrrggaanniissaattiioonnaall  ssttrruuccttuurree

IInntteerrnnaall  ssttrruuccttuurreess

To judge the soundness of a charity's
organisation, stakeholders need to see details
of its structure (activities, divisions and
departments) and of the chief executive and
senior executives in charge of running each

activity/department/division. Stakeholders
need this information to assess for example,
whether a charity is run effectively or
bureaucratically.

• 37% of the Annual Reports disclosed
good details of the charity's
organisational structure.

• 56% presented some details.
• 8% gave no details at all, thus failing to

comply with the Charity SORP
requirements.

• Few charities gave any extra details
about their senior managers, eg
background and qualifications.

GGrroouupp  ssttrruuccttuurree

A subsidiary company's performance is
often a major factor in the whole charity's
performance. Trustees are responsible for
the operation of the whole group of
organisations, so the Annual Report should:

• describe the group structure;
• describe the charity's internal structures;

and
• explain the purpose of all significant

subsidiaries.

The Charities SORP, Financial Reporting
Standards (and the Companies Act, where
relevant) require brief information
concerning the subsidiaries to be disclosed in
the Accounts. However, the Charities SORP
calls for the Annual Report to comment on
the subsidiaries' activities during the year.
76 (38%) of the charities analysed had a
main source of income from trading, which
is usually through subsidiaries. 140 of the
200 charities analysed had subsidiary or
associated companies.
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OOrrggaanniissaattiioonnaall  ssttrruuccttuurree  aanndd  pprroocceesssseess

Information  provided  about  subsidiary  companies  in  charities’  Annual  Reports

20%

11%

12%
28%

29%

Annual Report contains good detail that is easy to find (20%)

Annual Report contains some information (11%)

Annual Report contains few details (12%)

Annual Report contains no details (28%)

N/A Charity has no subsidiary (29%)

Base:  200

PPaarrttnneerrsshhiippss  wwiitthh  ootthheerr  oorrggaanniissaattiioonnss

Charities often work in partnership with
other charities and other types of
organisation to deliver their charitable
activity. These other charities and bodies
may fall into the category of related parties
(as defined in the Charities SORP and in
Financial Reporting Standard 8).
Transparency in describing a charity's
structure dictates that the trustees should
report on all major partnerships and

arrangements with other organisations -
not just the financial aspects but their
rationale, activities and achievements that
help the charity to further its objects. We
found that:

• 25% of the Annual Reports gave good
details of their relationships with other
organisations, where such a
relationship existed.

• 88% gave good details about them in
the notes to the Accounts.
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OOrrggaanniissaattiioonnaall  ssttrruuccttuurree  aanndd  pprroocceesssseess

RRiisskk  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt

Details of risk management are important
aspects of transparency and accountability.
Stakeholders should be able to ascertain
from the Annual Report that all elements of
risk in the charity have been identified and
minimised.

The Charities SORP requires trustees to
make a statement in their Annual Report
about risk. Many charities meet this
requirement but give the impression that
they do so because they have to, instead of
showing they have gone through a
thorough process to support their
statement.

• 74% (147) of the 200 charities made the
required statement concerning risk and
a further 46 made a statement that met
some, but not all, of the requirements.

• 4% (7) of charities failed to make any
statement at all, thereby failing to
comply with the Charity SORP.

• 48% went beyond the basic statement
and gave good additional details about
the processes by which they regularly
identify, monitor and manage risk.

• 8% gave a good explanation of the
nature of some of the key risks that
they faced.

• 24% commented on the charity's IT
arrangements.

Charities increasingly depend on IT, so
they face major risks if it does not perform
effectively. Accountability to stakeholders
is enhanced if details of the charity's major
IT systems are provided.

Analysing the findings by the different
categories of charity showed that Housing
and Community Affairs charities gave
much better than average additional
disclosures on risk management. 65% of
them gave good detail on how major risks
are monitored and controlled (overall
average 47%). This is likely to be because 16
of the 28 charities in this category are
Registered Social Landlords, which are
required to make a much more detailed
statement on internal control by the RSL
SORP than is required by the Charities
SORP.

We found that the extent of comment on
organisational structure, particularly on
subsidiary and related organisations, was
inadequate. There is considerable room for
improvement to provide stakeholders with
complete clarity about how these charities
operate.

AAss  bbeesstt  pprraaccttiiccee,,  ttrruusstteeeess  sshhoouulldd::

• Consider whether providing details
about senior managers and trustees
such as their qualifications, other
directorships/trusteeships and their
particular area of expertise would add
value for their stakeholders.

• Ensure that the Annual Report always
includes details on how trustees are
appointed as required by the Charities
Act and the Charities SORP.

• Provide details about organisational
structure, including subsidiaries.
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Disclosure  of  strategy,  policies  and  plans

The Annual Report should show clearly
how charitable objects are translated into
actions. The charity's legal objects are
normally expressed in very broad terms
and it is not usually possible for trustees to
address the whole range of activity
permitted by them. A major element of the
trustees' responsibility is to decide what
specific activities the charity will carry out
and the resources available for them.

This chapter focuses on disclosures by
charities of their strategies, policies and
plans to help deliver their charitable
objects.

SSttrraatteeggyy  aanndd  ppllaannss

A key element of accountability to a
charity's stakeholders is the provision of
information about the charity's strategy
which encapsulates the specific areas of
activity that the charity is focusing on
within the parameters of its objects.

The Charities SORP does not explicitly call
for details of a charity's strategy to be
disclosed in the Annual Report; it requires
disclosure of details of activities in the year
in the context of the strategy. However,
many charities include in their Annual
Report details of the current strategy or
mission statement (or both), including an
assessment of how far their activities have
met their aims.

The Charities SORP does require that the
Annual Report includes comment on the
plans for the charity's future. Trustees often
take this a step further and include
comments in the Annual Report on the
financial health of the charity.

• 66 of the Annual Reports analysed
(33%) gave good details of plans for the
future.

• 105 (53%) gave some details.
• 29 (15%) gave no information at all,

thus failing to comply with the
minimum disclosure requirements of
the Charities SORP.

• 61 (31%) gave details of the charity's
financial health.

A partial explanation for any omissions is
that these are the kinds of detail that
charities prefer to disclose in Annual
Reviews.

• 59 of the Annual Reviews we analysed
(71% of available Reviews) included
comments about the future that were
additional to the information in the
Annual Report.

More Social Services and Relief charities,
and Religious charities, provided good
details about future plans in their Annual
Reports (50% and 42% respectively) than
the average of 33%. Only 8% of Education,
Training and Scientific Research charities
provided good details about future plans in
their Annual Reports but this was
compensated for by a higher than average
figure for disclosures in their Annual
Reviews (89%).

A statement of a charity's plans is
important so that stakeholders can see how
the charity will continue to function. Too
many of the charities analysed failed to
provide this information and therefore
failed to comply with the Charities SORP
and to provide complete transparency for
stakeholders about the position of the
charity. It is good practice to provide
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DDiisscclloossuurree  ooff  ssttrraatteeggyy,,  ppoolliicciieess  aanndd  ppllaannss

further details in the Annual Review but
not to use the Annual Review to substitute
for information that is required in the
Annual Report. Where the Annual Review
does provide additional information the
Annual Report should contain suitable
cross-referencing.

PPoolliicciieess

Trustees determine the key policies that the
charity will follow to achieve its aims.
Disclosure of this information in the
Annual Report strengthens the charity's
accountability to stakeholders by showing
them how the trustees plan to raise and use
resources.

RReesseerrvveess

• 66% of the 200 charities gave a good
explanation of their reserves policy.

• 10% made no mention of it at all.
• 39% gave a good explanation of actual

performance against their reserves
policy and the steps they would take to
bring performance into line with the
policy.

42% of Housing and Community Affairs
charities gave good detail on their reserves
policies - 24% less than the average figure
for all 200 charities in the survey.

Those charities that did not mention a
policy at all are in breach of the Charities
SORP and, if they are not limited
companies, of the requirements of The
Charities (Reports and Accounts)
Regulations 2000.

The charities included in the analysis had
total reserves at 31 March 2003 (excluding
endowment funds) of £5.9bn and "free
reserves" of £0.9bn. This is a significant
sum for which the charities should be fully
accountable. It is not acceptable for any of
the charities in the analysis to fail to
provide details of their reserves policy. We
would encourage more charities to follow the
example of the 38% that gave full details of
their policy and their performance against it.

Charity Commission publications CChhaarriittyy
RReesseerrvveess (RRSS33) and CChhaarriittiieess  RReesseerrvveess
(CCCC1199) give more information on reserves
and are designed to improve the quality of
reporting in this area.

IInnvveessttmmeenntt

Where applicable a charity is required by
the Charities SORP to state its powers of
investment in the Annual Report.

• 41 out of the 200 (21%) charities stated
their investment powers in their
Annual Report.

• 70 (35%) explained their investment
policy.

Such a high level of failure in Charities
SORP compliance is not acceptable in
charities of this size which could
potentially hold significant resources in
investments.

GGrraannttss  ppaayyaabbllee

Where applicable a charity is required by
the Charities SORP to state its grant-
making policy in its Annual Report.

3355



DDiisscclloossuurree  ooff  ssttrraatteeggyy,,  ppoolliicciieess  aanndd  ppllaannss

Trustees should provide more than a
minimal statement in this area, especially
where grant-making is a significant part of
the charity's expenditure. Full details of a
charity's grant-making policy give
stakeholders a clear understanding of
where the charity is spending its money
and how those decisions are made.

• 148 of the 200 charities (74%) paid
grants to beneficiaries.

• 33 of the 148 gave good details of their
grant making policy in the Annual
Report (22%), with a further 18 (12%)
giving some details.

• 97 of the 148 (66%) gave no details at
all.

It is disappointing that 66% of grant-
making charities give no details of their
grant making policy. It is a Charities SORP
requirement that grant-making policies are
disclosed and it is also a key element of
transparency and accountability. 40
charities had grant making as their main
source of expenditure, 12 of which (30%)
failed to give any details of their grant-
making policy in their Annual Report and
Accounts.

Both the Annual Review and website of
these charities (if applicable) were studied
to see if they contained additional
information.18

Additional information provided ranged
from a detailed breakdown of grants awarded
and the grant making policy to more general
facts and figures. Two of the charities gave
good or excellent details on their grant-
making policy. Five gave a few details on
their programme and the remaining five
gave no details at all. The information was
mainly presented as tables or graphs.

Only three of the 12 charities cross-referred
from their Annual Report to the Annual
Review or the website, a figure which was
consistent with the whole sample group of
200.

The 40 charities whose main expenditure
was grants should be much better at
accounting for how they have distributed
this money. As grant-making is the main
focus of their operations, they are not being
accountable or transparent unless they
explain their policy to stakeholders.

AAccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess

The Charities SORP, Financial Reporting
Standards, the Charities Act and Regulations
and the Companies Act all require disclosure
of a charity's accounting policies. The Annual
Report should demonstrate to stakeholders
that the trustees have reviewed their
charity's accounting policies to ensure they
are still the most appropriate and reflect the
charity's current circumstances and most
recent external requirements.19

18 3 of the charities did not have a website or produce an Annual Review.
19 The findings of our analysis echo those of the Charity Finance Directors’ Group, which states in its report “Inputs
matter - improving the quality of reporting in the charity sector”:
“There needs to be more clear and full disclosure by charities of accounting policies, estimation techniques and bases of
allocation/apportionment of costs, especially central costs, across the lines of the Statement of Financial Activities
(SoFA). Detailed notes in the accounts should show how the stated policies have been applied.”
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DDiisscclloossuurree  ooff  ssttrraatteeggyy,,  ppoolliicciieess  aanndd  ppllaannss

• 25% of charities had one or more
significant accounting policies missing
from their Annual Report. The most
commonly missing policies were:
- income from activities to further

the charitable objects;
- fees and grants receivable;
- charitable expenditure; and
- allocating indirect costs across

expenditure headings.

• 14% commented in their Annual
Report on whether accounting policies
had changed.

• The accounting policies disclosed for
charities that presented consolidated
Accounts tended not to cover items in
the SoFA that related to the subsidiary
companies. They must do so where
these items are material.

Disclosure of accounting policies for major
balance-sheet items caused few problems.
Omissions tended to occur in the SoFA.
Trustees should take particular care that a
policy is stated for the allocation of costs
between the categories of expenditure in
the SoFA.

Housing and Community Affairs charities
were not good at disclosing these powers and
policies (14% and 18% respectively), nor were
Health and Medical charities (14% and 29%
respectively). International Affairs charities
were better, at 25% and 50% respectively,
and Religious charities were well above
average at 33% and 67% respectively.

Disclosure of accounting policies is a key
part of transparency and accountability.
Financial information about a charity is
essential for stakeholders to whom the
trustees are responsible for safeguarding
the charity's assets and spending its
resources. There is room for improvement
in this area. While it is encouraging that
some charities are providing information
about changes to accounting policies, we
would not expect to see a quarter of charities
of this size with statutory information
missing from their Annual Report.

AAss  bbeesstt  pprraaccttiiccee,,  ttrruusstteeeess  sshhoouulldd::

• State their powers of investment in
their Annual Report even where they
do not have any investments or an
investment policy.
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DDiisscclloossuurree  ooff  ssttrraatteeggyy,,  ppoolliicciieess  aanndd  ppllaannss

• Make a statement in their Annual
Report that they have reviewed their
accounting policies. Most auditors
require a representation from trustees
to confirm that they have reviewed the
accounting policies so it is a small step
to make that information available to
stakeholders.

• Include a comment about the charity's
general financial health, which is
particularly helpful, when linked to
details of the funds available and the
reserves policy, helping to put the
charity's future plans into context.

• Disclose the major features of the
charity's current strategy.

IIlllluussttrraattiivvee  eexxaammpplleess  ooff  bbeesstt  pprraaccttiiccee  iinncclluuddee::

The Annual Report of one grant-making charity gave a full list of its grants, with a detailed
explanation of the purpose of each and background information to each decision.

The Annual Report also gave guidance on applying to the charity for assistance, showing further
the trustees' understanding of the document's public character.

Another charity whose reserves policy was clearly set out helpfully explained the calculation
used.
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Annex  A  -  Research  techniques  and  survey  findings

The data used in this report was derived from a review of 200 Annual Reports, financial statements
and the Annual Reviews of larger charities with a 31 March 2003 year-end.

In addition an independent research company interviewed 1000 members of the public to canvass
their views on the level and type of information that charities make available to their stakeholders.

PPrrooffiillee  ooff  cchhaarriittiieess  iinn  tthhee  ssuurrvveeyy

TTaabbllee  11::  BByy  ttyyppee  ooff  cchhaarriittyy

Type  of  charity Governing  Instrument Number %

Limited company Memorandum and Articles of Association 147 74

Incorporated under Royal Charter Royal Charter 18 9

Trust Trust Deed 23 11

Trust Set up by Charity Commission Scheme 8 4

Trust Established by Act of Parliament 3 2

Trust Established by Deed Poll 1 -

Base:  200

TTaabbllee  22::  BByy  ttyyppee  ooff  gguuiiddaannccee  ccoommpplliieedd  wwiitthh

Guidance  complied  with Number %

Charity SORP only 170 85

NHS guidance and Charity SORP 6 3

Registered Social Landlord SORP 23 12

Higher & Further Education SORP 1 1

Base:  200
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RReesseeaarrcchh  tteecchhnniiqquueess  aanndd  ssuurrvveeyy  ffiinnddiinnggss

TTaabbllee  33::  BByy  aaccttiivviittyy

Activity Number %

Business and professional 0 -

Civil rights, citizenship and law and order 6 3

Conservation and protection 9 5

Culture, sport and recreation 20 10

Education, training and scientific research 24 12

Health and medical 41 20

Housing and Community Affairs 28 14

International activities 12 6

Philanthropic intermediation eg grant making 4 2

Religion 12 6

Social services and relief 44 22

Base:  200

TTaabbllee  44::  BByy  mmaaiinn  ssoouurrccee  ooff  iinnccoommee

Main  income  source Number %

Donations, legacies and similar income 39 20

Membership income 2 1

Grants/fees from central or local government 73 37

Trading income 76 38

Investment income, including bank interest 5 2

Other 5 2

Base:  200
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RReesseeaarrcchh  tteecchhnniiqquueess  aanndd  ssuurrvveeyy  ffiinnddiinnggss

TTaabbllee  55::  BByy  mmaaiinn  ttyyppee  ooff  cchhaarriittaabbllee  eexxppeennddiittuurree

Main  type  of  expenditure Number %

Providing financial assistance (eg grant awarding to individuals and/or
organisations 40 20

Providing buildings/facilities/open space 39 20

Providing services (eg care/counselling) 93 47

Providing advocacy/advice/information/education 14 7

Acting as an umbrella/resource body 1 -

Sponsoring or undertaking research 13 6

Base:  200

TTaabbllee  66::  BByy  pprroodduuccttiioonn  ooff  aann  AAnnnnuuaall  RReevviieeww

Number %

Annual Reviews available for this study 83 42

Base:  200

FFiilliinngg  tthhee  RReeppoorrtt  aanndd  AAccccoouunnttss

TTaabbllee  77::  WWhheenn  ddiidd  tthhee  cchhaarriittiieess  ffiillee  tthheeiirr  RReeppoorrttss  aanndd  AAccccoouunnttss??

Received  by  Charity  Commission Approved  and  signed  by  Trustees

Number % Number %

May 2003 - - 1 -

June 2003 - - 16 8

July 2003 6 3 73 37

August 2003 8 4 19 9

September 2003 21 10 37 19

October 2003 17 9 18 9

November 2003 18 9 16 8

December 2003 26 13 9 5

January 2004 91 45 9 5

February & March 2004 13 7 1 -

Trustees’ signatures not dated - - 1 -

Base:  200
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RReesseeaarrcchh  tteecchhnniiqquueess  aanndd  ssuurrvveeyy  ffiinnddiinnggss

TTaabbllee  88::  TThhee  ssttaaggeess  lleeaaddiinngg  uupp  ttoo  tthhee  ffiilliinngg  ooff  RReeppoorrttss  aanndd  AAccccoouunnttss

* Charities who did not submit signed accounts have been excluded

Average Longest Shortest
days period period

Period  from: Days Days Days

• Financial year-end to approval of financial statements by trustees 154 308 52

• Approval by trustees to date on which auditors signed their report 5 91 0

• Auditors signing their report to filing of report and accounts with
the Commission 93 234 3

Total  days  (legal  maximum  306) 253

TThhee  AAnnnnuuaall  RReeppoorrtt

TTaabbllee  99::  PPrreesseennttaattiioonn  ooff  AAnnnnuuaall  RReeppoorrttss

Yes % No %

Number Number

Is the Annual Report easy to read and navigate? 191 96 9 5

Does the Annual Report contain the following:

• Self-explanatory graphs? 17 8 183 92

• Self-explanatory tables? 34 17 166 83

• Photographs? 20 10 180 90

Base:  200

TTaabbllee  1100::  DDiisscclloossuurree  ooff  cchhaarriittyy  ddeettaaiillss

Yes % No %

Did the Annual Report disclose the following: Number Number

• Charity name 199 100 1 1

• Charity number 190 95 10 5

• Type of governing document 171 86 29 15

• Financial year end 196 98 4 2

Base:  200
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RReesseeaarrcchh  tteecchhnniiqquueess  aanndd  ssuurrvveeyy  ffiinnddiinnggss

TTaabbllee  1111::  RReeqquuiirreedd  aanndd  bbeesstt  pprraaccttiiccee  ddiisscclloossuurreess

Good  detail, Some A  few No Not
easy  to  find information details details applicable

How  good  was  the  information  provided  in  the  Annual  Report
on  the  following: Number Number Number Number Number

(a)  Aims  and  objects  (required  disclosures)

Statement of statutory objects of the charity 161 (81%) 19 (10%) 8 (4%) 12 (6%) -

Explanation of aims and mission of the charity 152 (76%) 28 (14%) 15 (8%) 5 (3%) -

(b)  Organisation  (required  disclosures)

List of trustees at year end and who served during the year 188 (94%) 9 (5%) 0 3 (2%) -

Details of how trustees are appointed 78 (39%) 43 (22%) 35 (18%) 44 (22%) -

Details of any body or person who can appoint the trustees 63 (32%) 44 (22%) 30 (15%) 63 (32%) -

Description of organisational structure 74 (37%) 64 (32%) 47 (24%) 15 (8%) -

(c)  Organisation  (best  practice  disclosures)

Details of committees, their composition and their areas of
activity? 56 (28%) 51 (26%) 38 (19%) 53 (27%) 2 (1%)

(d)  Relationships  (required  disclosures)

Statement of relationship with related parties 58 (29%) 38 (19%) 30 (15%) 35 (18%) 39 (20%)

Details of relationships with other charities and bodies 49 (25%) 37 (19%) 45 (23%) 62 (31%) 7 (4%)

(e)  Review  of  charity’s  and  subsidiaries’  activities  (required
disclosures)

Achievements for the year 126 (63%) 46 (23%) 15 (8%) 13 (7%) -

Plans for the future 66 (33%) 47 (24%) 58 (29%) 29 (15%) -

Narrative about the effectiveness of fundraising 61 (31%) 33 (17%) 42 (21%) 43 (22%) 21 (11%)

Narrative relating to the contribution of volunteers 31 (16%) 34 (17%) 33 (17%) 82 (41%) 20 (10%)

Information provided about subsidiary companies 40 (20%) 22 (11%) 23 (12%) 55 (28%) 60 (30%)

(f)  Finance  (best  practice  disclosures)

Comment on major sources of income and expenditure 71 (36%) 69 (35%) 35 (18%) 25 (13%) -

Comment on financial health 61 (31%) 63 (32%) 54 (27%) 22 (11%) -

Comment on unusual items (eg large deficit on defined
benefit pension scheme) 46 (23%) 17 (9%) 15 (8%) 70 (35%) 52 (26%)

Comment on accounting policies and any changes to them 27 (14%) 26 (13%) 26 (13%) 121 (61%) -

(g)  Performance  (best  practice  disclosures)

Does the Annual Report contain useful ratios? 72 (36%) 58 (29%) 44 (22%) 26 (13%) -

Is there an explanation of performance of key ratios? 62 (31%) 58 (29%) 44 (22%) 36 (18%) -

(h)  Reserves  (required  disclosures)

Explanation of the charity’s policy on reserves 131 (66%) 33 (17%) 17 (9%) 19 (10%) -

Comment on achievement of policy and action to be taken 77 (39%) 49 (25%) 33 (17%) 41 (21%) -

Explanation of funds in deficit 17 (9%) 8 (4%) 8 (4%) 60 (30%) 107 (54%)

(i)  Investments  (required  disclosures)

Summary of specific investment powers 41 (21%) 19 (10%) 34 (17%) 106 (53%) -

Explanation of the charity’s investment policy 70 (35%) 28 (14%) 25 (13%) 61 (31%) 16 (8%)

Comment on performance of investments 37 (19%) 24 (12%) 22 (11%) 95 (48%) 22 (11%)

(j)  Grants  (required  disclosures)

Explanation of grant making policies 33 (17%) 8 (4%) 10 (5%) 97 (49%) 52 (26%)

(k)  Risk  management  (required  disclosures)

Statement concerning reviewing risks 147 (74%) 24 (12%) 22 (11%) 7 (4%) -

(l)  Risk  management  (best  practice  disclosures)

Explanation of major risks 15 (8%) 12 (6%) 28 (14%) 145 (73%) -

Explanation of how major risks monitored/controlled 95 (48%) 42 (21%) 42 (21%) 21 (11%) -

(m)  Internal  processes  (best  practice  disclosures)

Comment on staff and staffing levels? 60 (30%) 44 (22%) 44 (22%) 49 (25%) 3 (2%)

Comment on its property assets? 33 (17%) 25 (13%) 41 (21%) 96 (48%) 5 (3%)

Comments concerning the charity’s IT and systems? 10 (5%) 20 (10%) 18 (9%) 152 (76%) -

Base:  200
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RReesseeaarrcchh  tteecchhnniiqquueess  aanndd  ssuurrvveeyy  ffiinnddiinnggss

TTaabbllee  1122::  OOuuttccoommeess  aanndd  iimmppaacctt  ddeessccrriibbeedd  iinn  tthhee  AAnnnnuuaall  RReeppoorrtt

Explained % Limited % No %
detail information detail

To  what  extent  does  the  Annual  Report  describe
the  following: Number Number Number

What charity has done to achieve its objects? 130 65 55 28 15 8

Details of how its achievements compare to
its plans? 30 15 88 44 82 41

Explanation of the benefit of this year’s activities
to users? 73 37 71 36 56 28

Explanation of the benefit of this year’s activities
on wider society 31 16 67 34 102 51

TTaabbllee  1133::  LLiinnkkaaggee  bbeettwweeeenn  tthhee  AAnnnnuuaall  RReeppoorrtt  aanndd  ootthheerr  ccoommmmuunniiccaattiioonn  mmeeddiiaa

Charities
producing  these Annual  Reports  cross  referring  to

extra  statements/ the  other  statements/website
having  a  website

Number Number  - %% Number  - %%
(base) Yes No

If the Annual Report and Accounts booklet
contains other statements (for example, a
Chairman’s statement) does the Annual Report
refer to them? 49 24 49 25 51

If the charity produces an Annual Review, does
the Annual Report cross-refer to it? 83 20 24 63 76

If the charity has a website, does the Annual
Report refer to it? 188 39 21 149 79

4444



RReesseeaarrcchh  tteecchhnniiqquueess  aanndd  ssuurrvveeyy  ffiinnddiinnggss

TTaabbllee  1144::  OOtthheerr  ccoommmmeennttss  oonn  tthhee  AAnnnnuuaall  RReeppoorrttss

Number  of
charities

Annual Report and Accounts booklet contains much detail, but in reports other than
Annual Report 60

Report clearly laid out, concise and helpful 49

Report very brief and uninformative 34

Report contains excellent detail on aims, plans, policies and strategy 33

Report very strong on impact and achievements 30

Report strong on financial matters 26

Report weak on financial matters 22

Report weak on impact of charitable activity 17

Some honest details about problems 15

Particularly good detail on charity structure and organisation 13

Poor detail on charity structure and organisation 6

TThhee  FFiinnaanncciiaall  SSttaatteemmeennttss

TTaabbllee  1155::  KKeeyy  iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn  iinn  tthhee  ffiinnaanncciiaall  ssttaatteemmeennttss

Yes No Not
applicable

Key  transparency  and  accountability  information Number Number Number

Is there an accounting policy for each major source of (consolidated)
income, expenditure and balance sheet item? 143 (72%) 57 (29%) -

Is there a note explaining the composition of each major figure in
the (consolidated) SoFA and balance sheet? 125 (63%) 75 (38%) -

Is there a note covering the amount of any remuneration to trustees,
and the nature and amount of expenses reimbursed to them during
the year? 187 (94%) 13 (7%) -

Is there adequate disclosure of related parties, and transactions and
balances with them, particularly expenses that would normally
have to be borne by an organisation but which are note included in
the SoFA? 130 (65%) 17 (9%) 53 (27%)

Base:  200
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RReesseeaarrcchh  tteecchhnniiqquueess  aanndd  ssuurrvveeyy  ffiinnddiinnggss

TTaabbllee  1166::  MMoosstt  ffrreeqquueenntt  mmiissssiinngg  oonn  iinnaaddeeqquuaattee  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess

Number  of
charities

Incoming resources:

• Income from charitable activities 10

• Donations and sale of donated goods 5

• Legacies 3

• Fees/grants receivable 10

• Shop income and trading income 3

Outgoing resources:

• Charitable expenditure 27

• Grants payable 3

• Operating costs/trading expenditure 10

• Allocating costs to SoFA categories 69

• Policy for allocating costs to SoFA categories inadequate 5

TTaabbllee  1177::  MMoosstt  ffrreeqquueenntt  mmiissssiinngg  oorr  iinnaaddeeqquuaattee  nnootteess  ttoo  tthhee  ffiinnaanncciiaall  ssttaatteemmeennttss

Number  of
charities

Incoming resources:

• Income from charitable activities 17

• Donations and legacies 16

• Fees/grants receivable 28

• Shop income and trading income 11

Outgoing resources:

• Charitable expenditure 14

• Grants payable 4

• Shop expenses/trading expenditure 8

• Fundraising costs 3

• No analysis by type of expense, or inadequate analysis 20

• Nature or amount of trustees’ expenses not disclosed 4

Other:

• Inadequate explanation of purpose of funds 4
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RReesseeaarrcchh  tteecchhnniiqquueess  aanndd  ssuurrvveeyy  ffiinnddiinnggss

TTaabbllee  1188::  OOtthheerr  ccoommmmeennttss  oonn  tthhee  AAccccoouunnttss

Number  of
charities

Income not properly categorised in the SoFA 10

Expenditure not properly classified in SoFA 2

Mathematical errors in the accounts 3

Balance sheet and auditors’ report not signed 9

AAnnnnuuaall  RReevviieewwss

TTaabbllee  1199::  HHooww  vviissuuaallllyy  iinntteerreessttiinngg  aarree  AAnnnnuuaall  RReevviieewwss??

Yes No

Number Number

Is the current Annual Review written in a more accessible style than the
Annual Report? 69 (83%) 14 (17%)

Does the current Annual Report contain the following:

• Self-explanatory graphs and tables? 65 (78%) 18 (22%)

• Quotations from beneficiaries? 55 (66%) 28 (34%)

• Photographs? 90 (96%) 3 (4%)

Base:  83

TTaabbllee  2200::  AAnnnnuuaall  RReevviieeww  bbaassiiccss

Yes No

Number Number

Is the current Annual Review written in a more accessible style than the
Annual Report? 69 (83%) 14 (17%)

Does the current Annual Report contain the following:

• Self-explanatory graphs and tables? 65 (78%) 18 (22%)

• Quotations from beneficiaries? 55 (66%) 28 (34%)

• Photographs? 90 (96%) 3 (4%)

Base:  83
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RReesseeaarrcchh  tteecchhnniiqquueess  aanndd  ssuurrvveeyy  ffiinnddiinnggss

TTaabbllee  2211::  HHooww  iinnffoorrmmaattiivvee  wwaass  tthhee  AAnnnnuuaall  RReevviieeww??

Information Information No
additional  to duplicates information

Annual  Report Annual  Report

Does  the  Annual  Review  provide  information  on: Number Number Number

Financial ratios 29 (35%) 32 (39%) 22 (27%)

Headline figures 50 (60%) 26 (31%) 7 (8%)

Impact information 78 (94%) 4 (5%) 1 (1%)

Outcome information 77 (93%) 5 (6%) 1 (1%)

Future plans 59 (71%) 9 (11%) 15 (18%)

Base:  83

TTaabbllee  2222::  WWhhaatt  wwaass  tthhee  ppeerrcceeiivveedd  ppuurrppoossee  ooff  tthhee  AAnnnnuuaall  RReevviieeww??
(Note: Some reviews appeared to have more than one purpose)

Yes No

Apparent  purpose  of  Annual  Review Number Number

Fundraising 35 48

General publicity 64 19

Enhancement to the Annual Report 37 46

Base:  83

TTaabbllee  2233::  GGeenneerraall  ppeerrcceeppttiioonnss  aanndd  ccoommmmeennttss

Number  of
charities

Annual Review much easier to read than the Annual Report 8

Annual Review more informative than the Annual Report 12

Annual Review fills in gaps in the Annual Report 15

Annual Review very long/heavy reading 4

Good use of individual cases to illustrate activities/outputs 7

Confusion caused because Annual Review entitled “Annual Report” even though a
separate Trustees’ Annual Report existed 4

Annual Review very long and very heavy reading 4

Annual Review on website not for same year as Annual Report and Accounts 10
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RReesseeaarrcchh  tteecchhnniiqquueess  aanndd  ssuurrvveeyy  ffiinnddiinnggss

OOtthheerr  mmeeaassuurreess  ttoo  eennhhaannccee  ttrraannssppaarreennccyy  aanndd  aaccccoouunnttaabbiilliittyy

TTaabbllee  2244::  OOtthheerr  mmeeaassuurreess iinn  ppllaaccee  ttoo  eennhhaannccee  ttrraannssppaarreennccyy  aanndd  aaccccoouunnttaabbiilliittyy

Number  of
Reference  made  by  the  charity  in  its  Annual  Report  or  Annual  Review  to  the  following: charities

Website 57 (29%)

Newsletter 23 (12%)

Helpline, customer service centre, mini-cam, e-mail, telephone service, text messaging 12 (6%)

Availability of publications, fact sheets, research papers 8 (4%)

Documents such as Corporate Plan, and Annual Review on CD, available on request 8 (4%)

Regular meetings with volunteers, advisory groups, tenants etc 3 (2%)

Base:  200

RReessuullttss  ffrroomm  aa  ssuurrvveeyy  ooff  tthhee  ppuubblliicc

TTaabbllee  2255::  RReessppoonnddeennttss  wweerree  aasskkeedd  hhooww  iimmppoorrttaanntt  tthheeyy  tthhoouugghhtt  iitt  wwaass  ffoorr  cchhaarriittiieess  ttoo  pprroovviiddee  tthhee
ffoolllloowwiinngg  iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn..  RReessppoonnddeennttss  uusseedd  aa  ssccaallee  ooff  11  ttoo  55  wwhheerree  55  ==  vveerryy  iimmppoorrttaanntt,,  11  ==  nnoott  aatt  aallll
iimmppoorrttaanntt  aanndd  33  ==  nneeiitthheerr iimmppoorrttaanntt  nnoorr  uunniimmppoorrttaanntt..  TThhee  mmeeaann  rreessuullttss  ffrroomm  11000000  rreessppoonnsseess  aarree
sshhoowwnn  bbeellooww..

Mean  score Information

4.43 Which charitable activities the charity has spent its money on

4.41 What the charity has achieved (ie the impact on society of the work they have undertaken)

4.14 The amount of money the charity spends on raising money (including the cost of fundraising
staff

4.10 The cost of the charity’s administration (including staffing costs)

3.95 The charity’s financial policies (eg investment policies and reserves)

3.87 How decisions are made in the charity and who makes them

3.80 Where the charity gets its income from (eg from donors/grants/investments/fees etc)

3.40 The charity’s registration number

NNOOTTEE:: In some instances percentages add up to more than 100% due to rounding up.
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Annex  B  -  Glossary  of  terms

TTrraannssppaarreennccyy  aanndd  AAccccoouunnttaabbiilliittyy:: For the purposes of this report we interpret transparency and
accountability as providing relevant and reliable information to stakeholders in a timely manner
that is free from bias, comparable, understandable and focused on stakeholders' legitimate needs.
This means that the information provided is capable of being understood by users with a
reasonable knowledge of business, economic activities and accounting and a willingness to study
the information with reasonable diligence.

AAccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess:: the principles, bases, conventions and rules by which transactions are
recognised, measured and presented in the accounts.

AAccccoouunnttss:: the statement of accounts produced annually by a charity in compliance with the
Charities Act 1993 or the Companies Act 1985 and the Charities SORP. Usually they comprise a
Statement of Financial Activities, a Balance Sheet, a Cash Flow statement (where required), a
statement of accounting policies and other notes. When audited, they have attached to them an
auditors' report.

AAcchhiieevveemmeennttss:: something accomplished by the charity.

AAccttiivviittiieess:: anything done using resources belonging to the charity or under its control, and
including all its work and services.

AAiimmss:: describe the changes the charity plans to achieve, or the differences it wants to make. 

AAnnnnuuaall  RReeppoorrtt:: A report produced annually by the trustees of a charity, in compliance with legal
requirements and the requirements of the Charities SORP, to provide legal and administrative
details relating to the charity and to describe what it is trying to do and how it is going about it.

AAnnnnuuaall  RReevviieeww:: A review of a year's activities produced by a charity in addition to its Annual
Report. They are frequently more promotional in nature and may be more descriptive and less
focused on performance reporting and linking to financial information. Others may provide
detailed performance information relating to particular services and may include financial
summaries.

For the purposes of this project an 'Annual Review' is any document that is: 

• designed to give an overview of the charity's activities, usually a summary of financial
information, achievements and changes etc (ie it does not just report on one area exclusively,
such as research or fundraising effectiveness);

• published in addition to documents produced to fulfil the charity's statutory obligations
(although the review may contain extracts from that information); and

• made widely available.

BBeenneeffiicciiaarriieess:: persons, people or bodies who may benefit under charitable trusts.

IImmppaacctt:: the broad, longer-term effects of the charity's work.

IInnddiiccaattoorrss:: well-defined, easily measurable information, which shows how well the charity is
performing.
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GGlloossssaarryy  ooff  tteerrmmss

IInnppuuttss:: the resources and activities that are used in the charity to create the services offered, for
example, staff and volunteers' time, use of equipment etc.

MMiissssiioonn  ssttaatteemmeenntt:: a short statement of the purpose of the charity, sometimes called an overall aim.

OObbjjeeccttiivveess:: the practical steps the charity will take to accomplish its aims.

OOuuttccoommeess:: the changes, benefits, learning or other effects that happen as a result of the charity's
services or activities.

OOuuttppuuttss:: the activities, services and products provided to users. They show the volume of work
undertaken, representing the direct products of the charity arising from its activities.

PPeerrffoorrmmaannccee  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt:: the use of performance measurement information to help set and report
on performance goals.

PPllaann:: a written description of the steps the charity will take to achieve certain things.

SSeerrvviicceess:: the goods, information and activities the charity provides for its users.

SSttaakkeehhoollddeerr:: any person, group, or organisation that has an interest in, or expectation of the charity.

SSttrraatteeggiicc  ppllaann:: covers the vision for the future of the charity and outlines the steps necessary to
achieve this over a period of time, often three to five years.

SSttrraatteeggyy:: a planned way of achieving long-term aims.

TTrreennddss:: show changes over time; can be used to plan future services.

UUsseerrss:: anyone who uses or benefits from a charity's services or facilities, whether provided on a
voluntary basis or as a contractual service.
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Annex  C  -  Requirements  for  preparing  and  filing  Annual
Reports  and  Accounts

PPrreeppaarraattiioonn

All registered charities in England and Wales are required to produce annual financial statements
and an Annual Report and file them with the Charity Commission, unless the charity falls below
the minimum size criteria set out in the Charities Act 1993 - having gross income and total
expenditure of £10,000 or less. In addition, any charity that is a limited company must also prepare
and file a directors' report and annual financial statements at Companies House. A charity that also
falls within the scope of another regulator (for example, a Registered Social Landlord, which is
regulated by the Housing Corporation) is usually required by that regulator to prepare and file an
Annual Report and Accounts. So whichever category a charity falls into, unless it is very small,
preparing and filing an annual trustees'/directors' report and financial statements is a universal
requirement.

FFiilliinngg  ttiimmee  lliimmiittss

The time limits for filing the Annual Report and Accounts are also very similar between regulators.
Registered charities must file their Annual Report and financial statements with the Charity
Commission within ten months of the end of the financial year. A similar timescale exists for
charities that are companies for filing these documents at Companies House. So for the 200 charities
surveyed as part of this project, each of which had a 31 March 2003 financial year-end, the last filing
date was 31 January 2004.

FFoorrmm  aanndd  CCoonntteenntt

The minimum content of Trustees Annual Reports for charities in England and Wales is determined
by Regulations issued under the Charities Act 1993. The Charities SORP ('Statement of
Recommended Practice: Accounting and Reporting by Charities') provides some additional
recommendations. Charitable Companies must also produce a directors' report though this may be
combined with the Trustees Annual Report to reduce duplication of information.

The format and content of charity financial statements is determined by the legislation under which
the charity is constituted. Charities that are companies must comply with the accounting
requirements of Companies Act 1985, and non-company charities must largely comply with
requirements of the Charities Act 1993 and associated Reports and Accounts Regulations.

Both company and non-company charities preparing accruals accounts must prepare accounts that
give a true and fair view. In order to do this the accounts must follow relevant accounting standards
and any statement of recommended practice (SORP) that relates to the charity. A SORP is a
document that provides the appropriate interpretation of accounting standards for the type of
organisation concerned. Most charities are subject to the Charities SORP, though there are also
SORPs for Registered Social Landlords, Authorised Funds (unit trusts) and Further and Higher
Educational Institutions.

Accordingly the Charity Commission expects that charities will adhere to the SORP relevant to their
circumstances.
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RReeqquuiirreemmeennttss  ffoorr  pprreeppaarriinngg  aanndd  ffiilliinngg  AAnnnnuuaall  RReeppoorrttss  aanndd  AAccccoouunnttss

SSccooppee

The above requirements apply to charities' Annual Reports and financial statements, effectively
providing a minimum standard. But there are virtually no requirements applying to any additional
material issued by a charity to report on its performance, such as a "glossy" Annual Review or
material available on a website, unless they contain summarised financial statements. Where they
do so, the SORP provides guidance on the form and content of the summarised financial statements
and the Auditing Practices Board has issued Bulletins entitled "The auditors' statement on the
summary financial statements" (Bulletin 1999/6) and "The electronic publication of auditors'
reports" (Bulletin 2001/1).

The Commission's publication CC59 ("Reporting the Activities and Achievements of Charities in
Trustees' Annual Reports") states that:

"Whilst trustees might usefully refer to these other sources of information within their Annual
Report such information should not be seen as a substitute for good annual reporting. The
Annual Report, if it is to succeed, needs to be a coherent document that not only meets the
requirements of SORP and the Regulations but also provides the necessary link with financial
reporting."

5533



Annex  D  -  Bibliography

CaritasData, The Top 3000 Charities 2003.

Charity Commission, Accounting and Reporting by Charities, Statement of Recommended
Practice. HMSO 2000.

Charity Commission, Accounting and Reporting by Charities, Statement of Recommended Practice
Update Bulletin 1. HMSO 2003.

Charity Commission, Accounts aren't optional, Charity Commission News, Issue 19, Autumn, 2003.

Charity Commission, Charity Reserves. (RS3), 2003.

Charity Commission, Reporting the activities and achievements of charities in Trustees' Annual
Reports. (CC59), 2003.

Charity Commission, Tell it like it is, Charity Commission News, Issue 18, Summer, 2003.

Charity Commission, Charities and Risk Management, 2003.

Charity Finance Directors’ Group, Inputs Matter - Improving the quality of reporting in the charity
sector, 2003.

Home Office, The Charities (Accounts and Reports) Core Guide, HMSO, 2000.

Home Office, The Charities (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 1995, HMSO, 1995.

Home Office, Charities Act 1993 c. -10. HMSO, 1993.

Home Office, Charities and Not-for Profits, a modern legal framework. The Government's response
to "Private Action, Public benefit", HMSO 2003.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Value Reporting review 2003 - Transparency in corporate reporting,
2003.

Scott, N. Valuing Volunteers - the hidden asset, CIPA Spectrum, issue 4, March, 2004.

Strategy Unit, Private Action, Public Benefit - a review of Charities and the wider not-for profit
sector, Cabinet Office, 2002.

5544



Acknowledgements

We would like to thank everyone who has co-operated in the production of this report.

Special thanks in particular to members of the Charity Group of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for
their assistance and to Paul Bussy (FCA) for his help and valuable insights in both framing the
study and analysis of the results.

5555






